

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 1081 / AUGUST 2009

B EZB EKT EKP

LIQUIDITY PREMIA IN GERMAN GOVERNMENT BONDS

by Jacob W. Ejsing and Jukka Sihvonen











In 2009 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €200 banknote.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=1456858.



I The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Central Bank or Danmarks Nationalbank. We thank the anonymous referee and seminar participants at the ECB and at the GSF Summer Research Workshop in Finance, May 2009, for helpful comments. 2 European Central Bank and Danmarks Nationalbank; European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: Jacob.Ejsing@ecb.europa.eu 3 Department of Accounting and Finance, University of Vaasa, P.O. Box 700, FIN-65101 Vaasa, Finland; e-mail: jukka.sihvonen@uwasa.fi

WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 1081 / AUGUST 2009

LIQUIDITY PREMIA IN GERMAN **GOVERNMENT BONDS**¹

by Jacob W. Ejsing² and Jukka Sihvonen³

© European Central Bank, 2009

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Website http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.europa. eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/html/index. en.html

ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract	4
Non-technical summary	5
1 Introduction	6
2 The economics of the on-the-run liquidity phenomenon2.1 The German government bond market	 4
3 Data	19
 4 Determinants of liquidity in the German bond market 4.1 Determinants of traded volumes 4.2 Determinants of quoted depths 4.3 Determinants of quoted bid-ask spreads 4.4 Determinants of the liquidity index 	2 I 22 26 27 29
 5 Price effects of liquidity and deliverability 5.1 Variable construction 5.2 Empirical results 5.3 Value of on-the-run status 	32 32 35 42
6 Conclusion	43
References	45
Appendix	50
European Central Bank Working Paper Series	58

3

Abstract

There is strong evidence that on-the-run U.S. Treasury securities trade much more liquidly and at significantly higher prices than their off-the-run counterparts. We examine if the same phenomenon is present in the German government bond market whose market structure differ markedly from that of the U.S. Treasury market. In sharp contrast to the U.S. evidence, we find that on-the-run status has only a negligible effect on the liquidity and pricing once other factors have been controlled for. Instead, the highly liquid German bond futures market, whose turnover is many times larger than in the cash market, leads to significant liquidity spillovers. Specifically, we find that bonds which are deliverable into futures contracts are both trading more liquidly and commanding a significant price premium, and that this effect became more pronounced during the recent financial crisis.

Keywords: Government bond, liquidity, liquidity premium, futures market **JEL Classification**: E43, G12, H63

Non-technical summary

Variations in liquidity are one reason why yields on otherwise comparable government securities differ. Although the liquidity of a bond can be measured in several ways, the concept essentially captures to what extent the bond can be sold cheaply and easily. Liquidity is thus valuable for market participants, and especially in times of market stress, the most liquid bonds have tended to command a considerable price premium.

Liquidity can have important implications for bond yields and the term structure of interest rates. Previous studies of liquidity and liquidity premia in government bond markets, based mainly on data from the U.S. Treasury market, have identified pronounced liquidity differences across government securities. In particular, the most recently issued securities in a given maturity bracket, the so-called on-the-run issues, have been found to trade much more actively and liquidly than their more seasoned counterparts. It has also been found that these differences in liquidity between on-the-run and off-the-run securities have important implications for bond pricing.

To contribute to a better understanding of the underlying determinants of liquidity and liquidity premia, this paper reports on a study of the German government bond market. Such a study is useful particularly because the German and U.S. markets for trading interest rate risk differ considerably. In particular, in contrast to the U.S. market, turnover in the German bond futures market is many times larger than in the German cash bond market. We argue that this difference causes trading to be less concentrated on specific bonds in the German market, which, in turn, helps explain why differences in liquidity premia are considerably smaller.

Our empirical results clearly suggest that the existence of a highly liquid German futures market leads to significant liquidity spillovers to the German cash market. Specifically, we find that bonds which are deliverable into the futures contracts are both trading more liquidly and commanding a price premium. Moreover, we show that this effect has intensified during the recent financial crisis. In sharp contrast to the evidence from the U.S. Treasury market, on-the-run status appears to have only a modest effect on the liquidity and pricing of German government bonds once other factors have been controlled for.

1 Introduction

Previous studies of liquidity and liquidity premia in government bond markets, based predominantly on data from the U.S. Treasury market, have identified pronounced liquidity differences across government securities. In particular, the most recently issued securities in a given maturity bracket, the so-called on-the-run issues, have been found to trade much more actively and liquidly than their more seasoned counterparts. This pattern is usually referred to as the 'on-the-run liquidity phenomenon'. It has also been found that these differences in liquidity between on-the-run and off-the-run securities have important implications for bond pricing, and that - particularly in times of market stress - the on-the-run securities command a significant price premium. For example, the yield discount on the on-the-run ten-year U.S. Treasury note relative to older issues with similar remaining maturity reached over 50 basis points in the autumn of 2008.

With a view to better understand the underlying causes of liquidity and liquidity premia, an examination of the German government bond market can potentially provide new insights. Specifically, the market structures of the U.S. and German government bond markets differ considerably; most notably with regard to the relative sizes of cash and futures markets. Table 1 compares U.S. and German trading volumes in government securities (excluding bills) and corresponding futures contracts. Whereas trading volumes in the German cash bond market is dwarfed by the activity in US Treasury market, the trading volumes in the two futures markets are of the same order of magnitude. This has important implications: whereas benchmark status and onthe-run status are synonymous in the U.S. Treasury market, in the German market, the benchmark status is de facto shared between a number of bonds, namely those bonds which are deliverable into the nearest-to-expiry futures contracts. Figures 1a and 1b show an example of how these differences affect trading volumes throughout the lives of selected ten-year bonds maturing around 2010. The U.S. 'on-the-run liquidity phenomenon' is clearly reflected in the sharp drop-off in traded volumes after the onthe-run period (top panel). For the German bonds (middle panel), however, the initial

decline is much less pronounced, and there is a strong resurgence of trading as the bonds become deliverable again for the five-year futures and (albeit to a lesser extent) for the two-year futures.

	Amount outstanding	Total volume 2008		Relative size of	
	(EUR ^{a} billion)	(EUR billion)		futures market	
		Cash market	Futures	in $\%$	
Germany	879	5961	58715	985%	
United States	2302	81426	45748	56%	

Table 1: German and US markets for government securities and related futures (2008)

Sources: Eurex, Bundesrepublik Deutschland Finanzagentur,

Federal Reserve Bank of New York, Chicago Board of Trade and the US Treasury Department.

 $^a\mathrm{US}$ dollar amounts were converted using the average exchange rate of 2008, 1.4711 USD per EUR.

In this paper, we ask whether the extremely large German futures market (relatively to the cash market) gives rise to significant liquidity spillovers to the cash bond market. In particular, we examine whether deliverable bonds systematically enjoy enhanced liquidity (as measured by higher trading volumes, higher quoted depths and/or tighter bid-ask spreads). Moreover, we investigate whether such liquidity effects are reflected in the prices of German government bonds. There are two main reasons for expecting spillover effects. First, deliverable bonds are easier to hedge using futures contracts, and thus more attractive for dealers (and other market participants with short horizons) to hold. Second, trading of deliverable bonds is directly supported by the strategies of arbitrageurs and speculative investors targeting the bond-future basis.

Our empirical results demonstrate that deliverability into futures contracts - rather than on-the-run status - is the key driver of liquidity and liquidity premia in the German market once other relevant factors have been controlled for. The sizes of the liquidity premia in the German market are found to be much smaller than those previously reported for U.S. on-the-run securities. This is consistent with the more ambiguous



Figure 1: Monthly averages of daily trading volumes (EUR billion, on y-axes) as a function of time-to-maturity (years, on x-axis) for nine 10-year governments bonds. On-the-run and deliverability periods are shaded in darker and lighter colors, respectively. Source: ICMA.

notion of benchmark status in the German market, which diffuses short-horizon trading over a larger set of bonds. We find that the positive effect of deliverability has intensified during the recent financial crisis, probably reflecting that the ability to hedge positions has become even more important amid unusually high volatility.

Our contributions relative to the existing literature on liquidity premia in government bond markets are fourfold. First, we pay closer attention to a key feature of German government bonds, namely their deliverability into extremely liquid futures contracts such as the Euro-Bund future. We find that this feature, which has been largely neglected in most previous studies on euro area bond market liquidity, is key to explaining relative pricing along and vis-à-vis the German yield curve. Our emphasis on market structure also helps explaining the remarkable differences in liquidity premia found between the U.S. Treasury market and other government bond markets.

Second, in contrast to most previous studies conducted on euro area data, which typically have aimed at explaining levels of and variations in sovereign spreads, we take a single-issuer perspective and focus on Germany, the bellwether market for euro-area bond yields. This approach permits a richer cross-sectional analysis, simultaneously considering liquidity and liquidity premia for all outstanding bonds, and allows us to separately identify the effects of deliverability, on-the-run status and other liquidity determinants. Such identification could not have been achieved with the typical approach of comparing, say, ten-year benchmark yields across countries. As a control, we replicate our results with French bonds, which are issued in amounts similar to those of German bonds, but cannot be delivered into futures contracts.

Third, our empirical analysis is based on a very rich data set obtained from a European electronic limit-order market, MTS, containing high quality intra-day measures of liquidity (such as quoted depth and bid-ask spreads) for virtually all outstanding German and French bonds (among other issuers). Our data set covers both the periods before and after the onset of the financial crisis in mid-2007, which allows us to assess whether the determinants of liquidity and liquidity premia changed across these very different market regimes. We use the high-frequency quote data to form robust measures of market liquidity, which are superior to the 'snapshot measures' from a specific time of the day often used in the existing literature on euro area bond market liquidity.

Fourth, since premia related to deliverability contort the German yield curve in subtle ways, which cannot be captured with standard methods (such as the extended Nelson-Siegel specification), we use a flexible approach to yield curve estimation. By allowing for multiple (inverse) humps, our spline-based approach can accommodate the peculiar features of the German yield curve arising from the identified liquidity spillovers from the futures market. Figure 2 preempts the results of our curve estimation analysis. The stars and the circles represent observed spot yields on French and German bonds on a single day in 2008, plotted against their remaining maturity. The figure clearly reveals pronounced inverse humps along the German term structure, which in time-to-maturity terms coincide with the baskets of deliverable bonds for the futures contracts.¹



Figure 2: Actual and fitted spot rates for French and German bonds on 11 April 2008 (although plotted, the on-the-run securities are not included in the curve estimation).

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. The next section discusses the economics of the on-the-run phenomenon, including a brief literature review. The third section presents our data set, and the fourth section examines the determinants of liquidity in the German government bond market. Section 5 examines to what extent liquidity and deliverability is priced. A final section concludes.

¹The spot rates are bootstrapped from actual market yields according to the no-arbitrage principle. The dashed and the solid line represent the estimated curves for France and Germany, respectively, and as can be seen from the figure, the flexibility of the spline becomes important in capturing the relatively complex shapes of the two term structures. For comparison, we estimated the zero-coupon curves with another popular method, the extended Nelson-Siegel model. Its functional form however turned out to be too restrictive for the yiled curves experienced after August 2007.

2 The economics of the on-the-run liquidity phenomenon

The empirical observation that bond trading and liquidity concentrate on few issues is not necessarily surprising. First of all, it is unnecessary to hold (or short) the entire market portfolio, since a suitable combination of short-, medium-, and long-term bonds captures almost all the variation in the level and shape of the yield curve [Litterman and Scheinkman (1991); Bliss (1997)].^{2,3} Once trading in certain maturities becomes customary, positive externalities will tend to reinforce it [Pagano (1989)].

The short-, medium-, and long-term bonds that are the most sensitive to yield curve risk within their maturity segment tend to become *benchmark* bonds Yuan (2005); Dunne, Moore, and Portes (2007)]. Since benchmark bonds tend to be more liquid [Boudoukh and Whitelaw (1991); Higo (1999)] and therefore trade at lower yields [Boudoukh and Whitelaw (1993)], issuers make efforts to ensure that their bond issues will obtain benchmark status. For example, major sovereign issuers now auction bonds in accordance with an issuance calendar published in advance. This (shorter-term) predictability and transparency of issuance schedules contribute to reduced idiosyncratic price variation in the secondary market by alleviating supply uncertainty. Moreover, concentration of issuance on a few key maturities allows for larger issue sizes, which reduce the price impact of large trades. Related, Brandt and Kavajecz (2004) find that idiosyncratic price variation tends to increase with bond age (often referred to as 'seasonedness'). According to a commonly held view, the relative scarcity of seasoned bonds increases the price impact of trading. For this reason, the most recently issued bond usually becomes the benchmark, and the 'benchmark liquidity phenomenon' becomes indistinguishable from the 'on-the-run liquidity phenomenon'. In the literature, researchers commonly use the latter term to describe the positive liquidity effects (partially) caused by the former. From a theoretical point of view this is mislead-

 $^{^{2}}$ This is also supported by the sovereign issuance strategies. For example, most new debt issued by the G-10 countries has 2-, 5-, or 10-year maturities.

³Hedging or replication of the market return based on three key maturities is common in passive bond portfolio management, see Dynkin, Gould, Hyman, and Konstantinovsky (2006)].

ing because the two phenomena have different origins: benchmark bonds are traded by those who wish to gain or hedge yield curve risk with minimal exposure to idiosyncratic risk, and on-the-run bonds by those who rebalance their portfolios after government auctions [Pasquariello and Vega (2009)] or prefer securities trading near par [Eom, Subrahmanyam, and Uno (1998); Elton and Green (1998)].

Although conceptually distinct, the benchmark and on-the-run liquidity effects are mutually reinforcing because increased liquidity arising from scale is beneficial to all traders. Uninformed trading in the market for on-the-run bonds, like hedging or portfolio rebalancing, attracts informed traders who minimize the price impact of their trades by pooling with the uninformed [Kyle (1985); Chowdhry and Nanda (1991)]. Informed trading fosters price discovery and improves the hedging effectiveness of the on-the-run bonds, which, as a consequence, become benchmarks of their maturity segments.

Intermediaries such as market makers are able to offset their exposure to yield curve risk by short-selling benchmark bonds. Subsequently, however, hedgers have to borrow benchmark bonds from those who own them to cover the short positions in the cash market.⁴ To achieve this, hedgers use the repurchase market where they search for bond lenders and bargain over the terms of bond loans. In the repurchase market, hedgers' uninformed demand for benchmark bonds induces bond lenders to increase their supply which, in turn, makes benchmark bonds easier to locate and reduces search costs [Duffie, Garleanu, and Pedersen (2007)]. Vayanos and Weill (2008) show that this virtuous circle arises because short-sellers are contractually bound to a particular bond, which is the one that they initially sold short and eventually will have to buy back and deliver in the repurchase contract. Because of this delivery constraint, market participants typically find it optimal to short the same security as everyone else, i.e. the benchmark bond. As shown by Duffie (1996), superior repurchase-market availability of benchmark bonds increases their value as collateral, leading to an counterintuitive outcome that active short-selling may in fact *inflate* cash prices. Yet the very same phenomenon

⁴Fisher (2002) provides a description of the use of repo markets for bond inventory management.

that causes distortions in benchmark prices, namely their repo-market availability, also facilitates price discovery. This is because informed investors' ability to implement their pessimistic beliefs via shorting benchmarks is key to efficient price discovery process [Diamond and Verrecchia (1987); Cohen, Diether, and Malloy (2007); Boehmer, Jones, and Zhang (2008)] that, ultimately, warrants the retention of the benchmark status itself. Figure 3 illustrates this market coordination process that ultimately leads to the superior liquidity of benchmark on-the-run Treasuries.



Figure 3: On-the-run effect in the cash market for U.S. Treasury securities.

As discussed above, a well-functioning repurchase market is key to cash market liquidity. On the supply side, market makers are able to lend out bonds and thereby leverage their capital, hold larger inventories, and provide more depth to the market. On the demand side, a large and dispersed investor base that ensures active trading and high liquidity is sustainable only if investors, who want to hedge or speculate with bonds that they do not already own, can take part in the market. For example, hedgers who sell and buy back benchmark bonds on a continuous basis increase the trading volume in the cash market, but are only able to do so using reverse repurchase contracts.

However, due to the multiplicity of markets and market participants involved in creating and maintaining liquidity, it is conceivable that multiple equilibria may occur, some of which may be characterized by low liquidity. Persistent pricing anomalies or market frictions reduce the usefulness of a benchmark for hedging or speculative purposes. For example, frictions in the repurchase market may force market makers to deleverage and cut back their liquidity provision in the cash market for including benchmark bonds. Also, cash market frictions may cause an inflationary spiral of shorting costs whereby investors gradually refrain from short-selling due to its trading intensive nature, and migrate to futures or swap market to create short positions.⁵ Consequently, the decline in short selling in response to high shorting costs reduces cash market liquidity and shifts the locus of price discovery towards alternative markets. Brandt, Kavajecz, and Underwood (2007) as well as Mizrach and Neely (2008) provide recent empirical evidence from the U.S. Treasury market.

2.1 The German government bond market

Mainly as a consequence of its relative novelty, the euro-denominated sovereign bond market is still considerably more fragmented than the U.S. Treasury market. This fragmentation remains an impediment for the liquidity and informational efficiency of the European market, as order flow is dispersed over a large number of heterogeneous securities and markets. Consequently, positive externalities that arise when traders come together in space and time, namely better liquidity and/or price discovery, are not realized to the same extent as in the homogeneous U.S. Treasury market. The absence of 'spontaneous' liquidity described above leads to need for more 'artificial' liquidity providers in the form of market makers.

Notwithstanding the considerable widening of sovereign spreads in the course of the financial crisis, euro-area yields have converged dramatically relative to the pre-EMU period. This has created the conditions and the demand for common benchmark securities that accurately reflect the term structure of risk-free euro interest rates. Given that the benchmark status is gained through competition rather than being conferred,

⁵Establishing and maintaining a short position requires more trading than a long position because repurchase contracts are usually very short-term.

the multiplicity of sovereign issuers and the growth of euro-denominated swap market ensure that this implicit definition of benchmark bonds is ongoing in the euro area. In practice, 10-year German government bonds have retained their benchmark status within the euro area, owing to their relative liquidity and credit quality.⁶ However, decentralized trading infrastructure in addition to a less well-established repurchase market increase the costs of taking and reversing short-term positions in the German cash market, which is why the bulk of trading and a major share of price discovery take place in the futures market [Bundesbank (2007); Upper and Werner (2007)] .⁷ As a consequence, the benchmark status of German government securities may be attributed to both cash and futures markets: the futures contracts are the main instruments for hedging and speculating on euro area interest rates, while the cash instruments are primarily used for asset allocation purposes. This market organization contrasts with that of the U.S. Treasury market, where cash instruments, i.e. the benchmark on-therun bonds, are used uniformly for pricing, positioning, and hedging.

In a futures-driven cash market, bonds that are deliverable for futures contracts may challenge the benchmark status of the on-the-run securities. This has been shown to be the case in the Japanese government bond (JGB) market, where the market's view of long-term yields is first reflected in the prices of JGB futures [Singleton (1996); Miyanoya, Inoue, and Higo (1999)], and then through arbitrage in the price of key deliverable bond and the rest of the JGBs [Shigemi, Kato, Soejima, and Shimizu (2001)]. Consistent with the arbitrage argument, Shigemi et al. report that the on-the-run and the key deliverable bond are the most actively traded JGBs in the cash market. In addition, Singleton (2004) finds that the key deliverable JGB has the highest sensitivity to changes in the term structure of all off-the-run JGBs, which corresponds to the

 $^{^{6}\}mathrm{Yields}$ on French government BTANs and OATs are occasionally used as reference rates in the intermediate maturities.

⁷Bid-ask spreads in the EUREX futures market are approximately five to ten times smaller than in the MTS cash market. For comparison, the spreads in the cash and futures market for U.S. Treasuries are approximately equal.

argument by Yuan (2005) that benchmark status depends on securities' sensitivity to systematic risk. On the other hand, Singleton's results from the futures-driven JGB market contradicts those from the cash-driven U.S. Treasury market, where Brandt and Kavajecz (2004) find that the sensitivity to market risk declines monotonically in bond seasonedness.

Given the extremely large and liquid futures market for German government securities, one would expect that the relation between the cash and the futures market resembles that of the Japanese market rather than the U.S. Treasury market. As an initial assessment of this conjecture, we estimate the market sensitivities of German onand off-the-run bonds as a crude measure of benchmark characteristics, and compare these sensitivities to those reported by Brandt and Kavajecz (2004). The bond-specific sensitivity is measured by the amount of yield variation explained by the three first principal components estimated from the term structure of German bonds. The results shown in Table 2 indicate that the German off-the-run bonds, which typically are the key deliverable bonds, reflect to changes in the term structure more precisely than on-the-run bonds. The exact opposite holds for the U.S. Treasury market, where the on-the-run bonds are most sensitive to yield curve risk. Overall, the results in Table 2 and the previous studies on the JGB market suggest that the on-the-run bonds would share the benchmark status with deliverable bonds in the German cash market.

What does the predominance of futures trading in the German market imply for the emergence of liquidity differences between bonds? The more diffuse benchmark status (shared among the bonds in the deliverable basket) contrasts with the unambiguous benchmark status of the on-the-run treasuries, and would suggest that liquidity differentials in the futures-driven German bond market ceteris paribus should be smaller than in U.S. market. Results of Witherspoon (1993) point to a certain threshold level in the informativeness of cash markets relative to futures markets, above which the benchmark status of on-the-run securities (and the liquidity effects thereof) is supported. If the futures market is too dominant with respect to price discovery, it tends

Table 2: The explanatory power of the first three principal components.

This table presents the percentages of yield variation explained by the three first principal components extracted from the correlation matrix of daily changes in German term structure. The sample includes observations on on- and off-the-run bonds in 2-, 5-, and 10-year maturities for the period January 2006-September 2008. The results for U.S. Treasury securities are from Brandt and Kavajecz (2004).

	Adj	Adjusted R^2			
Maturity	Germany	United States			
2-year					
On-the-run	96.91%	99.57%			
Off-the-run	97.27%	99.14%			
5-year					
On-the-run	96.65%	99.44%			
Off-the-run	97.77%	99.15%			
10-year					
On-the-run	98.08%	99.28%			
Off-the-run	98.36%	98.72%			

to hamper the cash market liquidity due to substitution, but may otherwise enhance the liquidity and price discovery of deliverable bonds through cross-market arbitrage [Holden (1995)].⁸

Indirect evidence of cross-market arbitrage can be seen in the Figure 1 in the Introduction. This figure plots average daily trading volumes for 10-year bonds issued by the United States, Germany and France. The periods during which the bonds are onthe-run and deliverable for futures contracts are shaded with darker color. Maturities where bonds are deliverable, but no longer on-the-run are shaded in a lighter color. As opposed to 10-year U.S. Treasuries in Figure 1a and French OATs in Figure 1c, German Bunds in Figure 1b continue to be actively traded well after the six month on-the-run period and the volume of trading remains high for another year until the bonds are no longer deliverable for the 10-year futures contract. Indeed, the trading activity of

⁸Cross-market arbitrage had grown so popular that in 2003 Eurex launched "basis instruments" for German government bond market, which involve opposite positions in futures and cash markets.

off-the-run Bunds in Figure 1b appears to be governed by deliverability; trading seems to be less active through the periods of non-deliverability, only to become more intense again as seasoned Bunds again become deliverable.

A similar volume pattern does not obtain for U.S. Treasury securities, despite the fact that they are deliverable for the 10-year futures contract traded at the Chicago Board of Trade. A possible explanation is that the simultaneous price discovery in cash and futures markets weakens the cross-market lead-lag effect and thereby makes arbitrage less profitable and trading less worthwhile. Also, the delivery basket for the U.S. 10-year futures contains considerable more securities than in the German case, making arbitrage-based trading less observable in individual securities.

To sum up, costly frictions in the cash market for German government bonds would suggest a diversion of order flow away from the cash instruments and towards futures contracts. Low transaction costs and the ease of taking short positions in the futures market attracts both uninformed as well as informed traders. For this reason, German futures contracts dominate price discovery in euro interest rates over cash bonds.

This is a key difference from the U.S. Treasury market, where trading in the on-therun bonds and futures contracts are complementary with regard to price discovery. As much an outcome as a cause, the on-the-run U.S. Treasuries are liquid relative to off-therun securities and actively traded for hedging and speculative purposes. In the absence of such trading, such as for German on-the-run bonds, one would expect the liquidity differentials between on- and off-the-run bonds to be much less pronounced. Indeed, turnover and the related positive liquidity effects may be even greater for German off-the-run bonds, since they are typically the cheapest-to-deliver into the two-, five-, and ten-year futures contracts and therefore subject to cross-market arbitrage trading. Figure 4 illustrates this particular relationship between the German cash and futures markets.



Figure 4: The combined cash and futures market effect in the German market.

3 Data

As is the case with most government bond markets, the secondary market for German government bonds is predominantly an over-the-counter market. Trading takes place mostly between dealers, either using traditional voice brokers and bilateral negotiation, or increasingly through electronic platforms. The source of our data on bond prices, quoted depth and quoted bid-ask spreads is MTS, the largest electronic trading venue for German government bonds, see Bundesbank (2007). MTS is a system of quote-driven platforms with designated market makers who compete for other market participants' order flow. Market makers supply liquidity for the bonds assigned to them by providing two-way proposals of a minimum size for at least five hours a day.

Our sample extends from January 2006 through September 2008. This period is particularly suitable for analysing government bond market liquidity as it covers both the tranquil period before mid-2007 as well as the turbulent period following the onset of the financial crisis.

Overall, our data include approximately ten million quotes and sixty thousand trades on bonds issued by the Federal Republic of Germany. The quote records include three best bid and offer quotes with the associated quote sizes at tick-by-tick frequency. Since quotes on MTS are binding unless withdrawn, the quote records allow us to obtain reliable estimates of the transaction costs that the market participants face as well as the size of the inventory that is available for immediate trade.⁹ The transaction records include prices and quantities with an indicator variable of the direction of the trade (buy or sell). Every quote and trade entry in our records is identified by an individual security identification number (ISIN) and a time stamp recorded to the nearest millisecond. Bond issue sizes are provided by the German Finance Agency.

Despite its significant role in electronic trading, the MTS transactions constitute only a small fraction of the overall trading volume in German government bonds. For that reason, we supplement our MTS data with trading volume information provided by International Capital Market Association (ICMA) through Datastream. Analogous to GovPX in United States, ICMA collects and disseminates data on transactions made by its members in the over-the-counter markets. Approximately 400 financial institutions, including the largest dealers in German government bond market, report their trades to ICMA. The sample for traded volumes covers the period January 2002 through February 2009.

Following the findings of previous research, and reflecting the firm-quote nature of our data, we use traded volumes, quoted depths and quoted bid-ask spreads as our measures of liquidity. The quoted spread is defined as the difference between best ask and bid price and is measured in percent of the midpoint price. The bid-ask spread alone, however, does not provide any information about the amounts available for trading at a given time. We therefore also include market depth as a complementary measure of liquidity. Market depth is proxied by the average volume available for trading at the best three bid and offer prices.¹⁰ Both quoted depths and spreads, which are observed at the intra-day frequency, are collapsed into representative daily

⁹To mitigate concerns that quotes are actually not firm, we compare transaction prices to standing quotes. We find that two thirds of the transactions in our sample are made exactly at the quoted prices. For the remaining third of the trades, the differences between quoted prices and transaction prices were small.

¹⁰Since MTS allows large transactions to be executed as iceberg orders, i.e. partially outside the order book, the market may be actually deeper than the cumulative depth indicates. We do not have data on the iceberg orders, but MTS reports that their share of all orders is less than two percent.

values by taking the median. This is an effective way of removing outliers, which is a serious problem when using end-of-day (or 'snapshot') quotes.

4 Determinants of liquidity in the German bond market

The aim of this section is to empirically assess whether liquidity differences across German government bonds are explicable in terms of deliverability into futures contracts. For this purpose, we consider four different liquidity measures: traded volumes, quoted depths, quoted bid-ask spreads and the 'liquidity index' proposed by Bollen and Whaley (1998). By constructing an (unbalanced) panel consisting of time-series observations (on liquidity measures and potential liquidity determinants) for a large cross-section of bonds, we can separately identify the impact on liquidity of deliverability and 'onthe-run' status. With respect to the impact of deliverability, we distinguish between 'cheapest-to-deliver' (CTD) bonds, and bonds which are merely deliverable.¹¹ We control for multiple other factors which have previously been found to determine liquidity. The set of control variables includes time to maturity, seasonedness (i.e. bond age) and issue size. Since our main interest is in the cross-sectional variation in liquidity between bonds with different characteristics, we also include time dummies. Time dummies help us overcome the potentially important short-coming that the MTS data reflect activity on electronic trading platforms and not the entire market. Anecdotal evidence suggests that in addition to the general decline in liquidity after July 2007, the market share of electronic platforms have declined.¹² By including time dummies, we minimize the impact of any trend in market share on our results.

To be more confident that any deliverability-related liquidity effects we may de-

¹¹Owing to the construction of the so-called conversion factors, during our entire sample, the CTD bonds are consistently the outstanding bond with shortest remaining time to maturity of the bonds in the delivery basket.

¹²As volatility rose precipitously after mid-2007, market participants apparently became increasingly reluctant to supply liquidity to each other in the form of tradeable buy or sell quotes in limit-order markets.

tect are genuine, we conduct identical analyzes for a control country lacking a futures market. For this purpose we use France, as the French government bond market is comparable to the German market in terms of credit rating, currency and amounts outstanding in the individual bonds. In the following, we analyze the determinants of traded volumes, quoted depths, quoted bid-ask spreads and the liquidity index.

4.1 Determinants of traded volumes

To assess the determinants of traded volumes, we regress log average daily volume on time dummies (for each month), deliverability dummies, cheapest-to-deliver dummies, on-the-run dummies, time to maturity (measured in years), seasonedness (also measured in years) and log issue size.

The deliverability dummies reflect the EUREX criteria determining whether a particular bond is eligible for delivery into the 2, 5 and 10-year German bond futures. Eligible bonds for these three contracts have remaining maturity in the ranges 1.75-2.25 years, 4.5-5.5 years and 8.5-10.5 years, respectively. This gives rise to three deliverability dummies.¹³ Note that (the compounded value of) the coefficients on these dummies can be interpreted as the percentage increase in trading volume for bonds belonging to the particular maturity bracket (relative to bonds in any of the undeliverable maturity brackets). We also include specific cheapest-to-deliver (CTD) dummies (one for each of the 2, 5 and 10-year futures contracts) taking the value one when a given bond is CTD into the next-to-expire futures contract, and zero otherwise.¹⁴

The remaining estimated coefficients also have interesting interpretations. The coefficient on the on-the-run dummies gauge the impact on trading volumes related to

 $^{^{13}}$ A newly issued 10-year bond will first be deliverable into the 10-year futures and then experience a time period where it is not deliverable (from 8.5 to 5.5 years remaining maturity) before it again becomes deliverable into the 5-year futures, and so on. For maturities below 1.75 years, the bond will never again become deliverable.

¹⁴We use the implied repo rate method to identify the cheapest-to-deliver bonds for each date and futures contract.

a bond being the most recently issued bond of a given original maturity. As mentioned above, studies on U.S. Treasuries typically find very large on-the-run effects on liquidity. The coefficient on the seasonedness variable can be interpreted as the annual percentage decay in trading volume as the bond ages. One would expect that trading volume (and other liquidity measures) decline as a bond ages, because an increasingly large fraction of the issued amount ends up in buy-and-hold portfolios. By controlling for other liquidity determinants in a panel setting (in particular deliverability and on-the-run effects, and developments in overall market liquidity as captured by the time dummies), we can identify the pace of such decay. Finally, the coefficient on the (log) issue size provides the elasticity of trading volumes with respect to issued amounts.¹⁵

Table 3 displays the results for the determinants of trading volumes for German bonds, and as a control, for French bonds. We first consider the results for Germany. Lines 2-4 of the table show that the impact of deliverability in all cases have the expected positive sign, and the coefficients are all highly statistically significant. The estimated effects of deliverability are economically important, as the estimated coefficients between 0.54 and 1.05 correspond to increases in trading volumes between 72% and 186%.¹⁶ The next three lines in the table reveal that a bond tends to experience an *additional* boost in trading volumes when it is the cheapest-to-deliver bond. The (compounded) increases in trading volume for CTD bonds (relative to comparable non-deliverable bonds) are 148%, 253% and 229% for the 2, 5 and 10-year maturities.¹⁷ On the other hand, on-the-run status *per se* has a somewhat smaller effect, increase trading by around 100%. Although the on-the-run effect on volumes is positive and highly statistically significant, it is smaller than the effects related to being cheapest-to-

¹⁵Lacking a time series of real-time outstanding amounts, we use outstanding amounts at the end of our sample. This of course ignores changes over time due to tap issues. Therefore we may overstate somewhat the outstanding amounts in some cases, and thus underestimate the true coefficient.

¹⁶The compounded effects are obtained as the exponential of the relevant estimated coefficients minus one.

¹⁷In this case, the compounded effects are obtained as the exponential of the sum of the relevant estimated coefficients (e.g. 2-year deliverability and 2-year CTD) minus one.

TABLE 3: DETERMINANTS OF TRADING VOLUMES FOR GERMAN AND FRENCH BONDS The dependent variable is log trading volume. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively. Monthly observations from Jan. 2002 through Feb. 2009 (T=86).

	Germany		France	
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	-13.12	(-2.62)***	-13.64	(-2.40)**
$1.75 \leq \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.54	$(8.27)^{***}$	0.38	$(5.08)^{***}$
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.67	$(8.75)^{***}$	0.33	$(3.67)^{***}$
$8.50 \le maturity < 10.50$	1.05	$(7.99)^{***}$	0.51	$(5.73)^{***}$
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	0.37	$(2.78)^{***}$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	0.59	$(7.45)^{***}$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	0.14	(1.19)		
On-the-run status	0.69	$(4.88)^{***}$	0.59	$(5.96)^{***}$
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.08	(-4.54)***	-0.12	(-7.19)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.02	(-1.79)*	0.01	(1.22)
Log issue size	1.42	$(6.64)^{***}$	1.38	$(5.79)^{***}$
Month-fixed effects	Yes		Yes	
Sample	Jan 02-Feb 09		Jan 02-Feb 09	
Number of months	86		86	
Number of bonds	109		66	
Number of month-bond obs.	4427		3024	
$Adjusted-R^2$	0.73		0.64	

deliver. This comparatively modest on-the-run effect contrasts with the overwhelming effect seen in studies using U.S. Treasury data. The decay related to bond aging (seasonedness) is estimated to be around 8% per year. This implies, for example, that an old 30-year with eight years remaining maturity would attract less than a fifth of the trading volume of a two-year-old 10-year bond with same remaining maturity and issue size. Finally, we find the elasticity of trading volumes with respect to the amount issued to be higher than one. This may reflect that not only are large issues traded more, the resulting enhanced liquidity (in terms of depth and expected transaction costs) may also feed back positively on trading in the bond.

The two rightmost columns of Table 3 display the comparable results for French government bonds. A first thing to note is that all significant coefficients have the same sign as in the German case. Also, all the coefficients of the control variables have very similar magnitudes. There are, however, notable differences in the relative size of the coefficients on the deliverability and on-the-run dummies. In particular, the dummies for the three maturity brackets considered (corresponding to 'deliverability' in the German case) have coefficients which are below that of the on-the-run dummy. This considerably smaller 'deliverability' effect for French bonds probably reflects the absence of a liquid futures market for French government bonds. It should be noted, though, that even these hypothetically 'deliverable' French bonds tend to trade significantly more than their 'non-deliverable' counterparts. A possible explanation is that French bonds which match the maturity requirements for the German futures also can be quite accurately hedged with positions in these futures. Moreover, higher cash-market liquidity for German bonds would make cross-country spread trades cheaper to execute. Therefore, both direct and indirect liquidity spillovers from the German futures market into the French cash bond market are conceivable.

Tables 13-14 in Appendix A show the results when the data set is split in pre-crisis and crisis samples. While the main results remain unchanged, it is notable that the 'deliverability' effect French bonds declined in the crisis sample. This may reflect that the ability to hedge French bonds with German futures was hampered by the dramatic increase in the level and variability of the French-German yield spread. Thus liquidity spillovers to 'deliverable' French bonds may well have declined.

As a robustness check, Table 12 (also in Appendix A) displays the corresponding results for the full-sample panel regressions, but without time dummies. The estimated coefficients remain virtually unchanged and the 85 dummies add relative little to the overall explanatory power of the model. This clearly suggests that the inclusion of time dummies does not drive the results.

4.2 Determinants of quoted depths

Table 4 shows the results of similar panel regressions, but now using quoted debts as the dependent variable. For the pre-crisis sample (the two leftmost columns), quoted depths can be broadly explained by time-to-maturity, seasonedness and log issue size. However, even in this tranquil period, there is evidence that deliverability increases quoted depths. The effects are however smaller than for traded volumes.

In the crisis sample (from July 2007 to September 2008), the importance of deliverability become more pronounced.¹⁸ The amount available for immediate trading at firm quotes was thus significantly higher for deliverable bonds. This holds for all three futures contracts considered (2, 5 and 10 years). Interestingly, the status as 'cheapest-to-deliver' does not appear to add extra depth in this period. This suggests that it is the ability to hedge a given bond with a futures contract which matters for liquidity, rather than the prospects of actual delivery. It is also noteworthy that during the crisis, on-the-run status became insignificant for German bonds. Overall, the coefficients for the remaining controls are quite comparable over the sub-samples: seasonedness and time-to-maturity have the expected signs and are always highly significant. This is in line with the inventory view, where bonds with a long time to maturity (and thus the

¹⁸This is formally confirmed by a joint exclusion test (F-test) for sub-period dummies interacted with deliverability variables, carried out in regression for the entire sample.

high interest rate risk) are less liquid, as are bond which are 'old' (because the have increasingly ended up in 'buy-and-hold' portfolios). As expected, issue size is important for depth, although much less so than it was for volumes.

For the control country, France (see Table 15 in Appendix A), in the pre-crisis sample, 'deliverability' had a positive effect on depth, but again less than for Germany. The 'on-the-run' status was again found to be quantitatively more important than 'deliverability' for French bonds (in both sub-samples).

4.3 Determinants of quoted bid-ask spreads

Table 5 shows the results for quoted bid-ask spreads. The results for the pre-crisis period are somewhat puzzling: three of deliverability dummies are significant, but have the wrong sign. On-the-run status, on the other hand, has the right negative sign (i.e. spreads are tighter for on-the-run issues), although not strongly significant. One possible explanation is that in the pre-crisis sample, market makers had quoting obligations (i.e. they had to post bid and ask prices which complied with a certain maximum spread). Our results suggests that these spreads were to a very large extent determined by bond characteristics such as time to maturity, seasonedness and issue sizes. Note also that R^2 is as high as 0.93 in this case.¹⁹

During the crisis sample, where market-maker obligations were suspended most of the time, the picture changed somewhat. Two of the deliverability dummies become significant, and they also have the expected negative sign. Quantitatively, the estimated effects on spreads remain rather small, though. This may indicate that for smaller trade sizes, the distinction between deliverable and non-deliverable bonds may not be particularly important. Market-makers may be willing to provide liquidity in the form of relatively tight bid-ask spreads for small amounts also in non-deliverable bonds. It seems plausible, on the other hand, that if market makers are to provide substantially liquidity in the form of tight bid-ask spreads for large amounts, the ability to hedge

¹⁹Table 16 in Appendix A shows the comparable results for France, which are broadly similar.

TABLE 4: DETERMINANTS OF QUOTED DEPTH FOR GERMAN GOVERNMENT BONDS The dependent variable is monthly averages of daily cumulated (log) depth. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

	pre-crisis		crisis	
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	4.00	$(1.97)^{**}$	9.20	$(4.60)^{***}$
$1.75 \leq \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.32	$(6.51)^{***}$	0.34	$(7.89)^{***}$
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.04	(0.68)	0.38	$(7.90)^{***}$
$8.50 \le \text{maturity} < 10.50$	0.16	$(2.18)^{**}$	0.47	$(10.10)^{***}$
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	-0.06	(-0.97)	-0.06	(-0.94)
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	0.09	$(2.67)^{***}$	0.05	(0.67)
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	0.07	(0.94)	-0.05	(-1.18)
On-the-run status	0.20	$(3.26)^{***}$	0.09	(1.25)
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.04	(-4.51)***	-0.05	(-5.24)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.05	(-13.88)***	-0.03	(-10.46)***
Log issue size	0.58	$(6.75)^{***}$	0.35	$(4.18)^{***}$
Month-fixed effects	Yes		Yes	
Sample	Jan 06-Jun 07		Jul 07-Sep 08	
Number of months	18		15	
Number of bonds	75		75	
Number of month-bond obs.	902		748	
$Adjusted-R^2$	0.78 0.71		0.71	

with futures likely becomes more important. To better capture both the depth and spread dimensions of liquidity simultaneously, we finally consider a 'liquidity index' defined as the quoted depth divided by the bid-ask spread.

4.4 Determinants of the liquidity index

The liquidity index is intended to capture the possibility that despite tightly quoted bid-ask spreads, a market may not necessarily be liquid with respect to execution of larger trades. Similarly, although quoted depth is a quite informative measure, it does not take into account the tightness of the market: there may large depth, but if bid and ask prices are far apart, such a situation would not necessarily correspond to a liquid market. To ensure the robustness of our findings against such short-comings of the one-dimensional liquidity measures, we present in Table 6 the results of the same regressions as above, but now using the liquidity index as the dependent variable. On this alternative measure of liquidity, the importance of deliverability clearly rose in the crisis sample for the 5 and 10-year maturities. In the pre-crisis samples, the liquidity index could be explained almost most exclusively by time to maturity, seasonedness and issue size.

Overall, this section has provided three main results. First, the liquidity of German bonds which were deliverable into the nearest-to-expiry futures contracts were found to be superior to non-deliverable bonds, when controlling for relevant bond characteristics such as time to maturity, seasonedness and issue size. Second, the positive impact on liquidity of belonging to the deliverable maturity intervals was consistently found to be higher for German bonds than for the control (French bonds), and - consistent with the more diffuse benchmark notion in the German market - the importance of 'on-the-run' status was found to be correspondingly lower for German bonds. Third, with respect to the comparison across market regimes, i.e. the pre-crisis versus crisis samples, we found that the importance of deliverability generally increased in the crisis sample. We now turn to the question, whether deliverability is also priced into German bond yields,

 TABLE 5: DETERMINANTS OF QUOTED BID-ASK SPREADS FOR GERMAN GOVERNMENT

 BONDS

The dependent variable is monthly averages of daily (log) bid-ask spreads. Asterisks *, ***, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

	pre-crisis		crisis		
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value	
Intercept	10.25	$(4.42)^{***}$	12.42	$(7.41)^{***}$	
$1.75 \le \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.03	(0.55)	-0.10	(-2.11)**	
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.36	$(4.89)^{***}$	0.03	(0.37)	
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	0.25	$(3.38)^{***}$	-0.12	(-1.66)*	
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	0.26	$(2.62)^{***}$	0.41	$(2.57)^{**}$	
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	-0.02	(-0.55)	0.05	(0.43)	
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	-0.09	(-1.40)	-0.12	(-0.66)	
On-the-run status	-0.25	(-2.36)**	-0.25	(-2.31)**	
Seasonedness (in years)	0.03	(3.33)***	0.04	$(5.95)^{***}$	
Time to maturity (in years)	0.09	$(16.13)^{***}$	0.09	$(18.61)^{***}$	
Log issue size	-0.43	(-4.37)***	-0.52	(-7.32)***	
Month-fixed effects	Yes			Yes	
Sample	Jan 06-Jun 07		Jul $07\text{-}\mathrm{Sep}$ 08		
Number of months	18		15		
Number of bonds	75 75		75		
Number of month-bond obs.	846 736		736		
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.93		0.91	

TABLE 6: DETERMINANTS OF LIQUIDITY INDEX FOR GERMAN GOVERNMENT BONDS The dependent variable is monthly averages of daily (log) depth divided by bid-ask spread. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

	pre-crisis		crisis	
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	5.83	$(2.83)^{***}$	13.11	$(5.71)^{***}$
$1.75 \le \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.15	$(2.79)^{***}$	0.20	$(2.87)^{***}$
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.08	(1.06)	0.46	$(5.97)^{***}$
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	0.10	(1.05)	0.57	$(6.31)^{***}$
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	-0.33	(-2.94)***	-0.42	(-2.20)**
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	0.01	(0.34)	-0.06	(-0.59)
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	0.09	(1.06)	0.12	(0.83)
On-the-run status	0.30	$(2.88)^{***}$	0.25	(1.58)
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.05	(-5.43)***	-0.07	(-6.54)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.13	(-21.83)***	-0.13	(-18.33)***
Log issue size	0.84	$(9.53)^{***}$	0.52	$(5.33)^{***}$
Month-fixed effects	Yes		Yes	
Sample	Jan 06-Jun 07		Jul 07-Sep 08	
Number of months	18		15	
Number of bonds	75		75	
Number of month-bond obs.	902 748		748	
$Adjusted-R^2$	0.94 0.91		0.91	

either directly or indirectly through enhanced liquidity.

5 Price effects of liquidity and deliverability

Having established the positive relation between deliverability and a range of liquidity measures for German government securities, we now examine whether liquidity in general and deliverability in particular are priced. We refrain from using German non-deliverable bonds as pricing benchmarks since their *future* deliverability may affect current prices in the form of liquidity or convenience premium. Instead, we compare the yields on deliverable and non-deliverable German securities to those of France. Besides having monetary policy in common, France is, as mentioned above, a natural choice as a benchmark since the amount of outstanding French debt corresponds to that of Germany in both absolute and relative (% of GDP) terms. Partly as a consequence, the difference in the credit quality are small, which allows us to pin down more precisely the marginal valuation of liquidity. In addition, France does not have a bond futures market, and this allows us to identify the impact of deliverability on German bond yields.

5.1 Variable construction

In order to obtain and easily compare French and German bond yields at different maturities, we estimate continuous zero-coupon yield curves for both countries using smoothed cubic spline interpolation. Cubic splines have been widely used in the literature, and this functional form provides enough flexibility to capture local yield effects that may arise from market segmentation. Once the two curves are estimated from the cross-section of French and German bond prices, we compute the yield spread between the two curves at maturities $m = \{1.0, 1.5, ..., 10.0\}$, with additional observations at 1.75 and 2.25 year maturities.²⁰ These maturities cover the most relevant part of the

²⁰To ensure that the set of securities used in the estimation procedure is homogenous, the following types of securities are excluded: securities with floating rate coupons, securities with remaining maturity

yield curve, and the following maturity subsets 1.75–2.25, 4.5–5.5, and 8.5–10.0 that correspond to the baskets of EUREX German government securities deliverable for 2-, 5-, and 10-year futures contracts, respectively. We calculate these yield differentials for each trading day from January 2006 through September 2008.²¹

We attempt to explain the yield spread across maturities and over time with the difference between French and German bond market liquidity and the deliverability of German securities. To accomplish this, we use the MTS data on French bonds to compute daily liquidity measures similar to those described in Section 3. Once we have the necessary liquidity measures for both French and German bonds, we average them across non-overlapping maturity brackets centered on each maturity m. That is, we use group averages instead of individual values in order to mitigate individual bond effects and non-synchronous maturities. The valuation effects of deliverability are captured by a set of dummy variables that correspond to the ranges of deliverable maturities specified in EUREX futures contracts.

In addition to liquidity and deliverability, several recent studies find that perceived differences in the credit quality of euro-area sovereign issuers have effects on the relative pricing of their bonds.²² Although we minimize this effect by comparing two sovereign issuers with similar fiscal fundamentals, a market-based measure that is available on daily basis is nevertheless desirable to capture additional aspects of governments' perceived credit quality. For this reason, we augment our empirical model of the interest rate spread with data on sovereign credit default swaps (CDS).²³

less than one year, securities with issue size less than EUR 5 billion, securities issued in non-euro currencies, securities originating from a coupon-stripping program, securities issued by government special fund, and inflation- or index-linked securities. Moreover, to disentangle the hypothesized price effect of on-the-run status, the most recently issued securities are excluded as well.

²¹The fit of the spline function is good for both countries, with the mean absolute fitting error being less than one basis point.

²²See, for instance, Codogno, Favero, and Missale (2003); Bernoth, von Hagen, and Schuknecht (2004); Beber, Brandt, and Kavajecz (2009); Schuknecht, von Hagen, and Wolswijk (2008)

 $^{^{23}}$ A sovereign CDS is contract that allows the investor to hedge against the event that a particular government defaults on its debt. In exchange for this 'credit protection', the investor agrees to make

A convenient property of CDS premiums is that they provide more direct reflections of the market's assessment of sovereign credit risk. This allows us to compute the credit risk premium on a five-year German government bond simply by subtracting the premium paid on a five-year CDS contract from bond's par yield. In the case of non-integer maturities for which the CDS contracts are not traded, we use observed premiums on nearby contracts to linearly interpolate the missing intermediate ones. Once the credit risk premium is netted out, we can decompose the residual par yield into elements associated with risk-free rate, liquidity, and deliverability. Consequently, French and German spot rates obtained from the spline estimation are transformed into par yields.

Finally, motivated by the results of Krishnamurthy and Vissing-Jorgensen (2007), we control for a potential negative relationship between aggregate supply and pricing of government debt. In particular, we calculate the average sizes of outstanding French and German bond issues on a daily basis and use their logarithmic difference to gauge changes in the relative supply of national debt. We also include year dummies and time-to-maturity as additional control variables to capture any unobserved factors that might affect the relative valuation.

Table 7 presents the summary statistics for yield, liquidity, quality, and issue size differentials between France and Germany. To facilitate comparison across maturities, the statistics are categorized by maturity segments that correspond to permanently non-deliverable maturities as well as 2-, 5-, and 10-year delivery baskets. As shown in Table 7, the differentials of par yields, bid-ask spreads, and credit risk are consistently positive across maturities, whereas log issue size differentials are negative. Taken together, this imply that investors perceive liquidity and credit quality of French bonds to be slightly inferior to their German counterparts, and this may explain that the French securities

periodic payments, known as premiums, to the seller of the contract over its life or until the government defaults. Compiled by Credit Market Analysis Ltd. and provided by Thomson Datastream, our CDS data is based on daily indicative bid premiums quoted by thirty key market participants for contracts on French and German government bonds with average residual maturities from one to ten years.

command higher yields across the yield curve. Several other results should be noted from Table 7. In our sample, the average size of French issues is approximately six per cent smaller than that of German bonds, and the size differential varies from -12% to zero. Yet despite the larger stock of debt, German bonds seem to trade at yield levels that are economically and statistically lower than those required on French securities, which suggests that the positive liquidity effects associated with larger float outweigh the direct supply effects. In addition, the variables in Table 7 exhibit substantial variation both in the cross-sectional and time-series dimensions, which motivates the use of panel estimation techniques.

5.2 Empirical results

To empirically test the conjectured relation between the French-German yield spread and the factors associated with relative liquidity, quality, and deliverability, we pool our data in a panel that includes a time series of daily observations from 2 January 2006 to 30 September 2008 for each maturity m. We split the panel into two sub-samples, using 1 July 2007 as the break to investigate whether the economic importance of our valuation factors change after the onset of the financial crisis. To this end, we estimate the following econometric model both for the pre-crisis period and the crisis period using panel least squares regression:

$$R_{t,m}^{F} - R_{t,m}^{G} = \alpha + \beta_1 (LIQ_{t,m}^{F} - LIQ_{t,m}^{G}) + \beta_2 (CDS_{t,m}^{F} - CDS_{t,m}^{G})$$

+ $\beta_3 [\log(AIS_t^{F} / AIS_t^{G})] + \delta(\mathbf{DEL_m}) + \lambda(\mathbf{X_{t,m}}) + \varepsilon_{t,m}$ (1)

where

$$DEL_{m} = \{NONDEL_{<1.75}, DEL_{1.75-2.25}, DEL_{4.5-5.5}, DEL_{8.5-10.5}\}$$
$$\mathbf{X}_{t,m} = \{m, year \ dummies\}$$

and $R_{t,m}^{i}$ denotes the estimated par yield for country *i* and maturity *m* at day *t*. $CDS_{t,m}^{i}$
*** after robust t -values (in parentheses) denote from January 2nd 2006 to September 30th 2008 Mean t -value Min	values (j 2006 to Mean) September 3 <i>t</i> -value	Uth 2008	Max	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$		Mean	<i>t</i> -value	Min	Max	SD
Par yield differential (bps)	ntial $(bp$	s)			2	Log depth differential	ıtial				
m < 1.75	2.17	$(4.19)^{***}$	-2.00	9.00	1.71	$m\!<\!1.75$	-0.19	$(-2.01)^{***}$	-1.09	0.89	0.33
$1.75\!\le\!m\!<\!2.25$	3.61	$(17.73)^{***}$	-1.00	18.00	3.77	$1.75\!\le\!m<\!\!2.25$	0.06	(0.97)	-1.10	0.81	0.38
$4.50 {\leq} m {<} 5.50$	4.28	$(15.59)^{***}$	-4.00	27.00	5.94	$4.50 {\leq} m{<}5.50$	-0.42	(-2.96)***	-2.30	0.86	0.48
$8.50 {\leq} m {<} 10.0$	10.79	$(10.97)^{***}$	2.00	34.00	6.76	$8.50 {\leq} m{<}10.0$	-0.29	(-3.61)***	-1.94	1.79	0.48
All	5.21	$(6.16)^{***}$	-4.00	34.00	5.96	All	-0.23	(-4.14)***	-2.30	1.95	0.42
Percentage bid-ask spread	sk spre£	ad differential (bps)	(pbs)			Credit risk differential (bps)	ntial $(bp$	(s)			
m < 1.75	0.79	$(4.62)^{***}$	-3.00	67.00	3.47	$m\!<\!1.75$	0.60	$(17.3)^{***}$	-3.95	6.65	1.48
$1.75 {\leq} m{<}2.25$	1.26	$(13.34)^{***}$	-3.00	45.00	2.48	$1.75\!\le\!m\!<\!2.25$	0.64	$(10.24)^{***}$	-5.60	7.00	1.77
$4.50 {\leq} m {<} 5.50$	3.48	$(11.88)^{***}$	-3.00	62.00	6.78	$4.50 {\leq} m {<} 5.50$	0.95	$(14.07)^{***}$	-3.10	7.10	1.79
$8.50 {\leq} m{<}10.0$	2.49	$(7.64)^{***}$	-2.00	65.00	5.25	$8.50 {\leq} m {<} 10.0$	1.43	$(27.19)^{***}$	-2.20	6.50	1.95
All	2.60	$(6.35)^{***}$	-3.00	67.00	5.60	All	1.05	$(8.74)^{***}$	-5.60	7.10	1.83
Log average issue size differential	e size di	fferential									
All	-0.06	(-50.71)***	-0.12	0.00	0.04						

TABLE 7: SUMMARY STATISTICS ON VARIABLES USED IN MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS

and $LIQ_{t,m}^{i}$, and AIS_{t}^{i} are the credit default swap premium, liquidity measure, and average issue size, respectively. The liquidity measures are percentage bid-ask spread, log depth, or the log ratio of depth and spread. We adopt log specifications in order to be able to interpret the corresponding regression coefficients as semi-elasticities of the yield spread. **DEL**_m is a vector of dummy variables that represent different deliverability conditions and $\boldsymbol{\delta}$ is the corresponding vector of coefficients. In particular, DEL_{m} takes the value of one if maturity m is deliverable for a German futures contract, that is, it satisfies the maturity condition shown in the subscript. $NONDEL_{<1.75}$ is one for maturities less than 1.75 years that are permanently non-deliverable. $\mathbf{X}_{t,m}$ includes other control variables, namely time-to-maturity and year dummies. In all the regressions, we adjust for both cross-sectional and time effects in residuals $\varepsilon_{t,m}$ using the variance estimators suggested by Thompson (2005).²⁴

The estimation results for Equation 1 appear in Tables 8 and 9. Table 8 reports the determinants of the yield spread before the onset the financial crisis. The coefficients for different liquidity measures are not statistically different from zero, suggesting that liquidity was not a key concern for the marginal investors in the pre-crisis period. This result, however, holds only for measures of "artificial liquidity" (i.e. liquidity provided by market makers as opposed to endogenously emerging liquidity): the log ratio of average issue sizes, a measure of relative float, loads negatively on the yield spread and is statistically significant. This means that the indirect liquidity benefits arising from larger issues more than offset the direct supply effects.²⁵

$$\widehat{Var}(\widehat{\beta}) = \widehat{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{m}} + \widehat{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{t}} - \widehat{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{White}}$$

²⁴Thompson (2005) suggests the following variance estimator $\widehat{Var}(\widehat{\beta})$ for an OLS estimator $\widehat{\beta}$ that is robust to heteroscedasticity and correlation across both distinct maturities m and time t:

where $\widehat{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{m}}$ and $\widehat{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{t}}$ are the estimate variances that cluster by maturity and time [Huber (1967); Rogers (1983)], respectively, and $\widehat{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{White}}$ is the usual heteroskedasticity robust OLS variance matrix [White (1984)].

²⁵Although it has to be emphasized that the economic importance of increased float is marginal: coefficient -0.22 implies that a one standard deviation decrease (-0.04) in the issue size ratio increases the yield spread by approximately one basis point.

TABLE 8: THE DETERMINANTS OF SOVEREIGN YIELD SPREAD: PRE-CRISIS PERIOD This table contains the results contains the results of least squares regression of Equation 1. The dependent variable is $R_{t,m}^F - R_{t,m}^G$, the difference between French(F) and German(G) par yield for maturity m at day t, measured in basis points. $CDS_{t,m}^i$, $LIQ_{t,m}^i$, and AIS_t^i are the credit default swap premium, liquidity measure (bid-ask spread, log depth, or the log ratio of depth and spread), and average issue size, respectively. $NONDEL_m$ and DEL_m are dummy variables that take the value of one if maturity m satisfies the limits shown in the subscripts. Asterisks *, ** and *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively. Daily observations from January 2nd 2006 to June 29th 2007.

	S	pread	log	g Depth	log	$\frac{\text{Depth}}{\text{Spread}}$
	Slope	<i>t</i> -value	Slope	<i>t</i> -value	Slope	<i>t</i> -value
Intercept	-0.86	(-1.53)	-0.87	(-1.55)	-0.87	(-1.59)
$LIQ_{t,m}^F - LIQ_{t,m}^G$	-0.11	(-0.99)	0.42	(1.33)	0.33	(1.51)
$CDS_{t,m}^F - CDS_{t,m}^G$	0.16	$(2.24)^{**}$	0.15	$(2.20)^{**}$	0.15	$(2.22)^{**}$
$\log(AIS_t^F / AIS_t^G)^{\dagger}$	-0.22	(-6.34)***	-0.22	(-6.44)***	-0.22	(-6.35)***
$NONDEL_{<1.75}$	0.80	$(2.30)^{**}$	0.97	$(2.34)^{**}$	0.91	$(2.45)^{**}$
$DEL_{1.75-2.25}$	0.83	$(5.00)^{***}$	0.74	$(4.72)^{***}$	0.77	$(5.21)^{***}$
$DEL_{4.5-5.5}$	-0.60	(-1.45)	-0.51	(-1.25)	-0.55	(-1.41)
$DEL_{8.5-10.5}$	3.56	$(4.24)^{***}$	3.57	$(4.22)^{***}$	3.51	$(4.20)^{***}$
m	0.24	$(1.71)^*$	0.25	$(1.74)^{*}$	0.25	$(1.81)^*$
Year-fixed effects		Yes		Yes		Yes
Number of obs.		6133		6133	(6133
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.69		0.68		0.69

[†]The regression coefficient is multiplied by 100.

In addition, the deliverability of German bonds appear to be priced, with the convenience yield for holding deliverable bonds being the highest in the 10-year segment at 3.5 bps, and less significant for 2- and 5-year segments. Positive, albeit small, coefficient for non-deliverable bonds indicates that deliverable bonds do not lose value once they drop permanently out of delivery basket, which mutes the importance of deliverability especially in the 2-year segment. The coefficients for time-to-maturity, all around 0.25, indicate that the yield spread increases by one basis point for every four-year increment in residual maturity.

Consistent with economic intuition, we also find that the difference in perceived credit quality is positively related to the sovereign yield spread.

Table 9 the results based on the crisis period. All statistically significant coefficients have the expected sign and are larger in magnitude than for the pre-crisis sample. This points to an increased importance of liquidity, quality, and deliverability associated in times of market stress. For example, positive and negative coefficients for bid-ask and liquidity index differentials, respectively, indicate that increased demand for the relatively more liquid German securities depresses the entire yield curve compared to the French one. In particular, a positive coefficient of 0.19 for the bid-ask spread differential implies that a two standard deviation (7.2 in the crisis sample) increase in the relative bid-ask spread is associated with 1.4 *bps* increase in the yield spread across maturities. Also, the liquidity index, which incorporates both spread and depth information, is higher for German securities and thereby loads negatively on the yield spread.

In addition to relative liquidity, the economic importance of relative credit quality increases in the times of market disturbance. Specifically, we find that the coefficients for credit risk differential triple in the crisis sample, ranging from 0.35 to 0.42. Therefore, a ten basis point increase in the CDS spread is associated with approximately four basis point increase in the yield spread.

Consistent with the results in Table 8, the relative issue size is negatively related

 TABLE 9: THE DETERMINANTS OF FRENCH-GERMAN YIELD SPREAD: POST-CRISIS

 PERIOD

This table contains the results of the Panel OLS regression of Equation 1. The dependent variable is $R_{t,m}^F - R_{t,m}^G$, the difference between $\operatorname{French}(F)$ and $\operatorname{German}(G)$ par yield for maturity m at day t, measured in basis points. $CDS_{t,m}^i$, $LIQ_{t,m}^i$, and AIS_t^i are the credit default swap premium, liquidity measure (bid-ask spread, log depth, or the log ratio of depth and spread), and average issue size, respectively. $NONDEL_m$ and DEL_m are dummy variables that take the value of one if maturity m lies in the maturity range shown in the subscripts. Asterisks *, ** and *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively. Daily observations from 1 July 2007 to 30 September 2008.

	S	pread	log	g Depth	log	$\frac{\text{Depth}}{\text{Spread}}$
	Slope	<i>t</i> -value	Slope	<i>t</i> -value	Slope	<i>t</i> -value
Intercept	-1.58	(-1.14)	-0.30	(-0.23)	-1.34	(-0.91)
$LIQ_{t,m}^F - LIQ_{t,m}^G$	0.19	$(6.33)^{***}$	0.37	(0.82)	-0.52	(-1.77)*
$CDS_{t,m}^F - CDS_{t,m}^G$	0.42	$(3.82)^{***}$	0.35	$(2.92)^{***}$	0.36	$(2.98)^{***}$
$\log(AIS_t^F / AIS_t^G)^{\dagger}$	-0.65	(-7.22)***	-0.61	(-6.1)***	-0.69	(-6.88)***
$NONDEL_{<1.75}$	-2.15	(-3.36)***	-2.19	(-3.91)***	-2.29	(-3.49)***
$DEL_{1.75-2.25}$	1.67	$(3.88)^{***}$	1.56	$(3.39)^{***}$	1.75	$(3.88)^{***}$
$DEL_{4.5-5.5}$	1.37	$(2.91)^{***}$	1.87	$(4.45)^{***}$	1.41	$(3.43)^{***}$
$DEL_{8.5-10.5}$	6.03	$(4.25)^{***}$	5.36	$(4.79)^{***}$	5.39	$(4.36)^{***}$
m	0.39	$(1.95)^{**}$	0.58	$(4.14)^{***}$	0.52	$(2.88)^{***}$
Year-fixed effects		Yes		Yes		Yes
Number of obs.		5511		5511	ļ	5511
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.75		0.71		0.71

[†]The regression coefficient is multiplied by 100.

to the yield spread in the crisis time as well. However, coefficients from -0.61 to -0.69 are three times larger and suggest that in times of stress, a large float (which makes bonds easier to locate in an OTC market) becomes especially important.

Finally, the deliverability indicators have explanatory power for the yield spread even after controlling for the liquidity differential, which suggests that the value of holding deliverable bonds cannot be completely explained with their superior liquidity as measured by our liquidity indicators. Again, the convenience yield is largest for the 10-year segment, 5.4 to 6.0 *bps* depending on the model specification. Furthermore, it should be emphasized that these figures are over and above the future deliverability premium, which varies from 2.2 to 2.3 *bps*, so that the total convenience yield for 10-year deliverables could well be as high as 8.2 *bps*. For short- and medium-term deliverable bonds the convenience yields are smaller, but still economically significant at around four basis points. We conjecture that wider and deeper delivery baskets in the 2- and 5-year segments reduce the convenience yield attached to individual bonds. The coefficient for time-to-maturity implies that the yield spread in the 10-year segment is ranges from 4 to 6 *bps*, ceteris paribus, depending on the liquidity measure used.

In a recent article, Kuipers (2008) finds similar albeit much smaller deliverability effects for U.S. Treasury bonds deliverable for 30-year futures contract. Kuipers (2008) reports a price premium of less than one basis point on a yield basis, which is in gross terms since the effect of liquidity is not controlled for.

We perform two robustness checks. First, we re-estimate both samples using quantile regression which is less sensitive to distributional assumptions and outliers. In particular, maximum yield and bid-ask spreads presented in Table 7 are quite high compared to their sample averages, which raises concerns that the above results are driven by a few influential outliers. To address this concern, we model the conditional *median* of the independent variables instead of the conditional *mean* reported in Tables 8 and 9. For brevity, we do not report these results in detail but note that they are qualitative similar to those presented in the above tables. Therefore, we conclude that extreme observations do not drive our findings. Second, we address the potential simultaneity bias arising from the joint determination of sovereign yield and CDS spreads by excluding the latter from the regressions. Leaving the CDS differential out of the regressions does not change the subsequent results in any significant way, suggesting that out conclusions from Tables 8 and 9 are robust also in that respect.

5.3 Value of on-the-run status

Having established the negative relation between German bond yields and deliverability, we turn our attention to the most recently issued securities and ask whether the on-therun status has pricing relevance beyond deliverability. Our approach is straightforward and familiar from the work of Elton and Green (1998) and others. We use the spot curve estimated from the daily prices of German off-the-run bonds to value a synthetic bond with a cash flow schedule similar to that of the on-the-run bond. The reference price is then converted to a yield and subtracted from the actual market yield of the on-the-run bond. If the resulting yield spread is negative, it means that investors are willing to accept lower yields for on-the-run securities relative to similar, off-the-run securities. Table 10 provides summary statistics on yield spreads for German 2-, 5-, and 10-year on-the-run securities.

The yield discount attached to the on-the-run status is surprisingly small for German government bonds. The mean yield concessions that investors are willing to pay in order to own on-the-run securities varies from 1.8 *bps* in the 2-year segment to -1.7 *bps* in the 10-year segment, where the latter value is not statistically different for zero. Since the reference yields in the 10-year segment are based on the prices of deliverable bonds, it can be concluded that investors do not attach additional value to newly issued 10-year bonds over seasoned 10-year bonds which remain deliverable for the 10year futures contracts. In the 2- and 5-year segments, the on-the-run bonds trade at yields that are 1-2 *bps* below the off-the-run curve, but it should be emphasized that the economic significance of on-the-run status appears trivial compared to Japanese or

Working Paper Series No 1081 August 2009

TABLE 10: SUMMARY STATISTICS ON YIELD DISCOUNTS ASSOCIATED WITH GERMAN ON-THE-RUN ISSUES

This table reports summary statistics on yield spreads between actual German on-therun bonds of various types and reference securities with similar maturity and coupon rate. Reference yields are estimated from the term structure using cubic splines. All values are in basis points. Asterisks *** after robust *t*-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 1% level. Daily observations from 2 January 2006 to 30 September 2008.

	Mean	<i>t</i> -value	Min	Max	SD
2-year	-1.75	(-2.72)***	-15.77	3.84	2.81
5-year	-0.67	(-3.25)***	-4.90	4.48	1.36
10-year	1.74	-1.48	-9.54	13.98	3.96

U.S. government bond markets, where yield discounts often are found to be at least an order of magnitude larger.

6 Conclusion

We find no evidence of a significant 'on-the-run liquidity phenomenon' in the German government bond market. Once deliverability into futures contracts and other liquidity determinants are properly controlled for, German on-the-run bonds neither enjoy substantially better liquidity nor trade at an economically significant price premium. In the light of the evidence from the U.S. Treasury market, which documents large liquidity and pricing effects associated with on-the-run status, this is surprising.

Instead, we find clear evidence that the cross-sectional variation in liquidity measures as well as yields across German government bonds is closely related to their eligibility for the two, five and ten-year futures contracts. The yield discounts on deliverable bonds cannot, however, be fully explained by standard liquidity measures and may thus be partly related to a premium for liquidity *risk*.

Our findings suggests that on-the-run securities play very different roles in the German and U.S. Treasury market, in particular with respect to hedging and speculation. In the U.S. market, the benchmark status of the on-the-run securities is indisputable, whereas this status - and the related superior liquidity - appear to be shared among multiple bonds in the Germany market. More generally, our empirical findings highlights the role of a liquid futures markets in supporting the liquidity of the underlying cash market.

Exploiting that our sample covers part of the recent turbulent period in financial markets, we find that the economic importance of liquidity and deliverability increased considerably under severe market stress. Furthermore, our results suggest that the large price premium observed on German bonds during the crisis (relative to other large euro area issuers) may partly be explained by significant liquidity spillovers from the very liquid German futures market. The presence of these effects have implications for studies of euro-area sovereign spreads, which typically are computed relative to German yields.

References

- BEBER, A., M. W. BRANDT, AND K. A. KAVAJECZ (2009): "Flight-to-Quality or Flight-to-Liquidity? Evidence from the Euro-Area Bond Market," *Review of Financial Studies*, 22, 925–57.
- BERNOTH, K., J. VON HAGEN, AND L. SCHUKNECHT (2004): "Sovereign Risk Premia in the European Government Bond Market," ECB Working Paper Series No. 369.
- BLISS, R. (1997): "Movements in the term structure of interest rates," Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta Economic Review, Fourth Quarter.
- BOEHMER, E., C. JONES, AND X. ZHANG (2008): "Which Shorts Are Informed?," Journal of Finance, 63, 491–527.
- BOLLEN, N., AND R. WHALEY (1998): "Are Teenies Better?," Journal of Portfolio Management, 25, 10–24.
- BOUDOUKH, J., AND R. WHITELAW (1991): "The Benchmark Effect in the Japanese Government Bond Market," *Journal of Fixed Income*, 1-2, 52–59.

(1993): "Liquidity as a Choice Variable: A Lesson from the Japanese Government Bond Market," *Review of Financial Studies*, 6(2), 265–292.

- BRANDT, M., AND K. KAVAJECZ (2004): "Price Discovery in the U.S. Treasury Market: The Impact of Orderflow and Liquidity on the Yield Curve," *Journal of Finance*, 59(6), 2623–2654.
- BRANDT, M., K. KAVAJECZ, AND S. UNDERWOOD (2007): "Price Discovery in the Treasury Futures Market," *Journal of Futures Markets*, 27, 1021–1051.
- BUNDESBANK (2007): "Primary and secondary markets for German public sector debt instruments," Deutsche Bundesbank Monthly Report, July 2007.

- CHOWDHRY, B., AND V. NANDA (1991): "Multimarket trading and market liquidity," *Review of Financial Studies*, 2, 483–511.
- CODOGNO, L., C. FAVERO, AND A. MISSALE (2003): "Yield spreads on EMU government bonds," *Economic Policy*, 18(37), 503–532.
- COHEN, L., K. DIETHER, AND C. MALLOY (2007): "Supply and Demand Shifts in the Shorting Market," *Journal of Finance*, 62, 2061–2096.
- DIAMOND, D., AND R. VERRECCHIA (1987): "Constraints on short-selling and asset price adjustment to private information," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 18, 277– 311.
- DUFFIE, D. (1996): "Special Repo Rates," Journal of Finance, 51, 493–526.
- DUFFIE, D., N. GARLEANU, AND L. PEDERSEN (2007): "Valuation in over-the-counter markets," *Review of Financial Studies*, 20, 1865–1900.
- DUNNE, P., M. MOORE, AND R. PORTES (2007): "Benchmark Status in Fixed-Income Asset Markets," Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 34, 1615–1634.
- DYNKIN, L., A. GOULD, J. HYMAN, AND V. KONSTANTINOVSKY (2006): Quantitative Management of Bond Portfolios. Princeton University Press.
- ELTON, E., AND T. GREEN (1998): "Tax and Liquidity Effects in Pricing Government Bonds," Journal of Finance, 53(5), 1533–1562.
- EOM, Y., M. SUBRAHMANYAM, AND J. UNO (1998): "Coupon Effects and the Pricing of Japanese Government Bonds: An Empirical Analysis," *Journal of Fixed Income*, 8, 69–86.
- FISHER, M. (2002): "Special Repo Rates: An Introduction," Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta Economic Review, Second Quarter.



- FLEMING, M. (2002): "Are Larger Treasury Issues More Liquid? Evidence from Bill Reopenings," Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, 34(3), 707–735.
- HIGO, H. (1999): "The Change of Liquidity in the Life Cycle of Japanese Government Securities," in *Market Liquidity: Research Findings and Selected Policy Implications*. Bank of International Settlements CGFS Publications No. 11.
- HOLDEN, C. (1995): "Index Arbitrage as Cross-Sectional Market Making," Journal of Futures Markets, 15, 423–455.
- HUBER, P. (1967): "The Behavior of the Maximum Likelihood Estimates Under Nonstandard Conditions," Proceedings of the Fifth Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, 1, 221–233.
- KRISHNAMURTHY, A., AND A. VISSING-JORGENSEN (2007): "The Demand for Treasury Debt," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 12881.
- KUIPERS, D. (2008): "Does deliverability enhance the value of U.S. Treasury bonds?," Journal of Futures Markets, 28(3), 264–274.
- KYLE, A. (1985): "Continuous Auctions and Insider Trading," *Econometrica*, 53(6), 1315–1335.
- LITTERMAN, R., AND J. SCHEINKMAN (1991): "Common Factors Affecting Bond Returns," *Journal of Fixed Income*, 1, 54–61.
- MIYANOYA, A., H. INOUE, AND H. HIGO (1999): "Microstructure and liquidity in the Japanese government securities market," Bank of Japan Working Paper No. 99-1.
- MIZRACH, B., AND C. NEELY (2008): "Information shares in the US Treasury market," Journal of Banking & Finance, 32, 1221–1233.
- PAGANO, M. (1989): "Trading Volume and Asset Liquidity," The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 104, 255–274.

- PASQUARIELLO, P., AND C. VEGA (2009): "The On-the-Run Liquidity Phenomenon," Journal of Financial Economics, 92, 1–24.
- ROGERS, W. (1983): "Analyzing Complex Survey Data," Rand Corporation Memorandum, Santa Monica, CA.
- SCHUKNECHT, L., J. VON HAGEN, AND G. WOLSWIJK (2008): "Government risk premiums in the bond market: EMU and Canada," ECB Working Paper Series No. 879.
- SHIGEMI, Y., S. KATO, Y. SOEJIMA, AND T. SHIMIZU (2001): "Pricing of Japanese Government Bonds: Influence of Futures Prices, Repo Rates, and Supply-Demand Conditions of Specific Issues," Bank of Japan Working Paper No. 01-E-1.
- SINGLETON, K. (1996): "Institutional and Regulatory Influences on Price Discovery in Cash and Futures Bond Markets," in *The Industrial Organization and Regulation* of the Securities Industry, ed. by A. Lo, pp. 243–274. National Bureau of Economic Research.
 - (2004): "Yield Curve Risk in Japanese Government Bond Markets," International Review of Finance, 1, 97–121.
- THOMPSON, S. (2005): "A simple formula for standard errors that cluster by both firm and time," Harvard University working paper.
- UPPER, C., AND T. WERNER (2007): "The tail wags the dog: time-varying information shares in the Bund market," Bank for International Settlements Working Paper No. 224.
- VAYANOS, D., AND P. WEILL (2008): "A Search-Based Theory of the On-the-Run Phenomenon," *Journal of Finance*, 63(3), 1361–1398.
- WHITE, H. (1984): "A Heteroskedasticity-Consistent Covariance Matrix Estimator and a Direct Test of Heteroskedasticity," *Econometrica*, 48, 817–838.

- WITHERSPOON, J. (1993): "How Price Discovery by Futures Impacts the Cash Market," *Journal of Futures Markets*, 11, 685–696.
- YUAN, K. (2005): "The Liquidity Service of Benchmark Securities," The Journal of the European Economic Association, 3, 1156–1180.

Appendix

A Summary statistics and additional tables

Table 11 provides summary statistics for the number bonds, their outstanding amounts, trading volume, and liquidity measures. As for the number of bonds, our sample includes more on-the-run and off-the-run bonds in the two-year segment than in other segments. This reflects the tighter issuance cycle in the short end of the yield curve, as German Finance Agency issues two-year bonds four times a year while five- and ten-year bonds are issued semiannually. Nonetheless, the coverage across maturity and seasonedness ranges is overall quite good, as there are at least five bonds in each category.

Yield spreads between off-the-run and on-the-run bonds appear quite modest, even at the long end of the yield curve. Indeed, the yields for the most recently issued bonds and their immediate predecessors deviate on average less than two basis points. Bid-ask spreads generally get wider with remaining time-to-maturity. For instance, the mean percentage bid-ask spread for the most recently issued 2-year bond is little over two basis points, compared to 3.4 basis points for the 10-year on-the-run bond. This is consistent with market-making models based on inventory management, in which competitive dealers charge wider spreads for securities that have higher price volatility. For bonds with different original but similar residual time-to-maturity, however, the spreads are roughly the same. For example, the bid-ask spreads for original five- and ten-year bonds with approximately three and half years to maturity are virtually identical. The bid-ask spreads between on-the-run and off-the-run bonds do not seem to differ in an economically important way either. This contrasts with the U.S. Treasury market evidence, where Fleming (2002) reports five times wider bid-ask spread for off-the-run bills and Pasquariello and Vega (2009) two times wider spread for off-the-run Treasury bonds. Market depth, while being similar between on-the-run and off-the-run bonds, appears to decline with seasonedness.

segment. Jources: M12 Deutschland, IUMA, and German Finance Agency.			Season	Seasonedness		
Original maturity	On-the-run	Off-the-run	1-2 yrs.	2-5 yrs.	5-7 yrs.	7-10 yrs.
Number of bonds						
2-year	10	10	13			
5-year	9	5	7	11		
10-year	IJ	5	9	10	10	13
Yield (%)						
2-year	$3.660 \left[0.405 \right]$	$3.683 \ [0.415]$	$3.528 \ [0.520]$			
5-year	3.790[0.338]	$3.781 \left[0.351 ight]$	$3.767 \left[0.360 ight]$	$3.686 \ [0.410]$		
10-year	$3.959 \ [0.279]$	$3.941 \left[0.281 \right]$	$3.928 \left[0.286 ight]$	$3.880 \left[0.311 ight]$	$3.784 \; [0.361]$	$3.719 \; [0.411]$
Volume (EUR billions)	ns)					
2-year	$0.907 \ [0.571]$	$0.574 \ [0.456]$	$0.280 \; [0.143]$			
5-year	1.140[0.288]	$0.446 \left[0.291 \right]$	$0.244 \ 0.082$	$0.284 \ [0.109]$		
10-year	$2.450 \ [1.111]$	1.630[0.809]	$1.201 \ [0.571]$	$0.501 \ [0.206]$	$0.502 \; [0.201]$	$0.230 \ [0.118]$
Spread (basis points)	5)					
2-year	2.193 $[1.335]$	$2.170 \ [1.194]$	$1.785 \left[1.232 \right]$			
5-year	$3.103 \left[0.800 \right]$	$3.106 \left[0.712 \right]$	2.927 $[3.007]$	$2.318 \ [1.887]$		
10-year	$3.444 \ [0.861]$	$3.584 \left[0.802 \right]$	$3.817 \left[0.983 \right]$	$3.430 \left[1.497\right]$	$2.900 \left[0.885 \right]$	2.280 [2.263]
Depth (EUR millions)	IS)					
$\hat{2}$ -year	$\hat{9}3.666$ $[35.638]$	$101.643 \ [35.447]$	$31.369 \ [7.526]$			
5-year	94.740 [29.714]	93.224 $[29.524]$	79.831 [32.108]	56.806 [28.491]		
10 treat	111 700 [15 617]	110 201 [16 606]	80 600 [36 887]	RO 661 [00 087]	66 046 [95 990]	KK 616 [90 676]

Table 11: Sample summary statistics.

51

TABLE 12: DETERMINANTS OF TRADING VOLUMES FOR GERMAN AND FRENCH BONDS: PANEL REGRESSION WITHOUT TIME DUMMIES

The dependent variable is log trading volume. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively. Monthly observations from Jan. 2002 through Feb. 2009 (T=86).

	Ge	ermany	Fi	ance
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	-11.26	(-2.54)**	-13.85	(-2.38)**
$1.75 \leq \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.57	$(8.42)^{***}$	0.38	$(5.16)^{***}$
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.70	$(8.86)^{***}$	0.32	$(3.60)^{***}$
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	1.06	$(7.91)^{***}$	0.51	$(5.19)^{***}$
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	0.34	$(2.77)^{***}$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	0.58	$(7.05)^{***}$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	0.15	(1.14)		
On-the-run status	0.65	$(5.15)^{***}$	0.58	$(5.70)^{***}$
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.09	(-5.58)***	-0.13	(-7.35)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.02	(-1.72)*	0.01	(1.21)
Log issue size	1.31	$(7.00)^{***}$	1.39	$(5.66)^{***}$
Month-fixed effects		No	No	
Sample	Jan (02-Feb 09	Jan 0	2-Feb 09
Number of months		86		86
Number of bonds		109		66
Number of month-bond obs.		4427	e U	8024
Adjusted-R ²		0.70	().60



TABLE 13: DETERMINANTS OF TRADING VOLUMES FOR GERMAN AND FRENCH BONDS (PRE-CRISIS SAMPLE)

The dependent variable is log trading volume. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively. Monthly observations from Jan. 2002 through Jun. 2007 (T=66).

	Ge	ermany	Fi	rance
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	-16.16	(-2.88)***	-11.40	(-1.55)
$1.75 \le \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.55	$(7.50)^{***}$	0.43	$(4.33)^{***}$
$4.50 \le \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.64	$(7.02)^{***}$	0.34	$(3.29)^{***}$
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	1.01	$(6.70)^{***}$	0.51	$(4.98)^{***}$
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	0.37	$(2.60)^{***}$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	0.66	$(7.85)^{***}$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	0.17	(1.32)		
On-the-run status	0.67	$(4.34)^{***}$	0.54	$(5.00)^{***}$
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.06	(-2.88)***	-0.14	(-6.30)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.02	(-1.95)*	0.01	(1.31)
Log issue size	1.55	$(6.47)^{***}$	1.29	$(4.17)^{***}$
Month-fixed effects		Yes	Yes	
Sample	Jan ()2-Jun 07	Jan 02-Jun 07	
Number of months		66		66
Number of bonds		109		66
Number of month-bond obs.		3426	2 2	2294
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.74	().61

TABLE 14: DETERMINANTS OF TRADING VOLUMES FOR GERMAN AND FRENCH BONDS (CRISIS SAMPLE)

The dependent variable is log trading volume. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively. Monthly observations from Jul. 2007 through Feb. 2009 (T=20).

	G	ermany	Fi	cance
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	-5.81	(-1.29)	-20.27	(-3.45)***
$1.75 \le \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.60	$(5.61)^{***}$	0.22	$(2.28)^{**}$
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.74	$(8.43)^{***}$	0.28	$(1.94)^{*}$
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	1.07	$(8.27)^{***}$	0.45	$(3.37)^{***}$
Cheapest-to-deliver for 2-year future	0.36	$(1.69)^*$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 5-year future	0.27	$(1.74)^*$		
Cheapest-to-deliver for 10-year future	0.05	(0.43)		
On-the-run status	0.69	$(3.49)^{***}$	0.73	$(5.20)^{***}$
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.11	(-7.40)***	-0.10	(-5.69)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.01	(-0.94)	0.00	(0.25)
Log issue size	1.08	$(5.68)^{***}$	1.66	$(6.69)^{***}$
Month-fixed effects		Yes	Yes	
Sample	Jul (07-Feb 09	Jul 0	7-Feb 09
Number of months		20		20
Number of bonds		109		66
Number of month-bond obs.		1001		730
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.73	(0.74

TABLE 15: DETERMINANTS OF QUOTED DEPTH FOR FRENCH GOVERNMENT BONDS The dependent variable is monthly averages of daily cumulated (log) depth. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

	р	re-crisis		crisis		
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value		
Intercept	9.86	$(3.85)^{***}$	17.00	$(2.98)^{***}$		
$1.75 \leq \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.17	$(2.73)^{***}$	0.27	$(3.35)^{***}$		
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	-0.09	(-1.50)	-0.07	(-0.63)		
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	0.16	$(3.86)^{***}$	0.27	$(3.05)^{***}$		
On-the-run status	0.49	$(6.71)^{***}$	0.50	$(3.95)^{***}$		
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.05	(-7.71)***	-0.05	(-4.38)***		
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.04	(-13.57)***	-0.02	(-4.04)***		
Log issue size	0.33	$0.33 (3.05)^{***}$		(0.06)		
Month-fixed effects		Yes		Yes Yes		Yes
Sample	Jan	Jan 06-Jun 07 Jul 07-Se		7-Sep 08		
Number of months		18 15		15		
Number of bonds		51		51		
Number of month-bond obs.		668		555		
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.81		0.65		

TABLE 16: DETERMINANTS OF QUOTED BID-ASK SPREADS FOR FRENCH GOVERN-MENT BONDS

The dependent variable is monthly averages of daily (log) bid-ask spreads. Asterisks *, ***, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

	рі	re-crisis	(crisis
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	7.50	$(2.25)^{**}$	6.52	$(2.47)^{**}$
$1.75 \leq \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.09	$(1.70)^*$	-0.08	(-1.22)
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	0.12	$(2.47)^{**}$	0.22	$(3.93)^{***}$
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	0.06	(0.98)	-0.04	(-0.75)
On-the-run status	-0.23	(-3.35)***	-0.44	(-5.72)***
Seasonedness (in years)	0.01	(1.54)	0.01	(1.39)
Time to maturity (in years)	0.08	$(14.84)^{***}$	0.08	$(15.77)^{***}$
Log issue size	-0.30	-0.30 (-2.16)**		(-2.22)**
Month-fixed effects	Yes Yes		Yes	
Sample	Jan	Jan 06-Jun 07 Jul 07-Se		97-Sep 08
Number of months		18 15		15
Number of bonds		51		51
Number of month-bond obs.		634		553
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.91		0.89

TABLE 17: DETERMINANTS OF LIQUIDITY INDEX FOR FRENCH GOVERNMENT BONDS The dependent variable is monthly averages of daily (log) depth divided by bid-ask spread. Asterisks *, **, *** after robust t-values (in parentheses) denote values significantly different from zero at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

	p	re-crisis		crisis
	Slope	t-value	Slope	t-value
Intercept	10.53	$(4.10)^{***}$	17.57	$(3.79)^{***}$
$1.75 \leq \text{maturity} < 2.25$	0.13	$(2.54)^{**}$	0.21	$(2.23)^{**}$
$4.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 5.50$	-0.09	(-1.37)	-0.31	(-2.54)**
$8.50 \leq \text{maturity} < 10.50$	0.01	(0.29)	0.20	$(2.25)^{**}$
On-the-run status	0.48	$(8.09)^{***}$	0.74	$(5.74)^{***}$
Seasonedness (in years)	-0.07	(-7.67)***	-0.06	(-4.30)***
Time to maturity (in years)	-0.12	(-29.79)***	-0.11	(-15.25)***
Log issue size	0.63	$(5.77)^{***}$	0.31 (1.59)	
Month-fixed effects		Yes	5 Yes	
Sample	Jan	06-Jun 07	Jul (07-Sep 08
Number of months		18 15		15
Number of bonds		51		51
Number of month-bond obs.		668		555
$Adjusted-R^2$		0.96		0.88

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.europa.eu).

- 1049 "Labour force participation in the euro area: a cohort based analysis" by A. Balleer, R. Gómez-Salvador and J. Turunen, May 2009.
- 1050 "Wealth effects on consumption: evidence from the euro area" by R. M. Sousa, May 2009.
- 1051 "Are more data always better for factor analysis? Results for the euro area, the six largest euro area countries and the UK" by G. Caggiano, G. Kapetanios and V. Labhard, May 2009.
- 1052 "Bidding behaviour in the ECB's main refinancing operations during the financial crisis" by J. Eisenschmidt, A. Hirsch and T. Linzert, May 2009.
- 1053 "Inflation dynamics with labour market matching: assessing alternative specifications" by K. Christoffel, J. Costain, G. de Walque, K. Kuester, T. Linzert, S. Millard and O. Pierrard, May 2009.
- 1054 "Fiscal behaviour in the European Union: rules, fiscal decentralization and government indebtedness" by A. Afonso and S. Hauptmeier, May 2009.
- 1055 "The impact of extreme weather events on budget balances and implications for fiscal policy" by E. M. Lis and C. Nickel, May 2009.
- 1056 "The pricing of subprime mortgage risk in good times and bad: evidence from the ABX.HE indices" by I. Fender and M. Scheicher, May 2009.
- 1057 "Euro area private consumption: Is there a role for housing wealth effects?" by F. Skudelny, May 2009.
- 1058 "National prices and wage setting in a currency union" by M. Sánchez, May 2009.
- 1059 "Forecasting the world economy in the short-term" by A. Jakaitiene and S. Dées, June 2009.
- 1060 "What explains global exchange rate movements during the financial crisis?" by M. Fratzscher, June 2009.
- 1061 "The distribution of households consumption-expenditure budget shares" by M. Barigozzi, L. Alessi,
 M. Capasso and G. Fagiolo, June 2009.
- 1062 "External shocks and international inflation linkages: a global VAR analysis" by A. Galesi and M. J. Lombardi, June 2009.
- 1063 "Does private equity investment spur innovation? Evidence from Europe" by A. Popov and P. Roosenboom, June 2009.
- 1064 "Does it pay to have the euro? Italy's politics and financial markets under the lira and the euro" by M. Fratzscher and L. Stracca, June 2009.
- 1065 "Monetary policy and inflationary shocks under imperfect credibility" by M. Darracq Pariès and S. Moyen, June 2009.
- 1066 "Universal banks and corporate control: evidence from the global syndicated loan market" by M. A. Ferreira and P. Matos, July 2009.
- 1067 "The dynamic effects of shocks to wages and prices in the United States and the euro area" by R. Duarte and C. R. Marques, July 2009.



- 1068 "Asset price misalignments and the role of money and credit" by D. Gerdesmeier, H.-E. Reimers and B. Roffia, July 2009.
- 1069 "Housing finance and monetary policy" by A. Calza, T. Monacelli and L. Stracca, July 2009.
- 1070 "Monetary policy committees: meetings and outcomes" by J. M. Berk and B. K. Bierut, July 2009.
- 1071 "Booms and busts in housing markets: determinants and implications" by L. Agnello and L. Schuknecht, July 2009.
- 1072 "How important are common factors in driving non-fuel commodity prices? A dynamic factor analysis" by I. Vansteenkiste, July 2009.
- 1073 "Can non-linear real shocks explain the persistence of PPP exchange rate disequilibria?" by T. Peltonen,
 M. Sager and A. Popescu, July 2009.
- 1074 "Wages are flexible, aren't they? Evidence from monthly micro wage data" by P. Lünnemann and L. Wintr, July 2009.
- 1075 "Bank risk and monetary policy" by Y. Altunbas, L. Gambacorta and D. Marqués-Ibáñez, July 2009.
- 1076 "Optimal monetary policy in a New Keynesian model with habits in consumption" by C. Leith, I. Moldovan and R. Rossi, July 2009.
- 1077 "The reception of public signals in financial markets what if central bank communication becomes stale?" by M. Ehrmann and D. Sondermann, August 2009.
- 1078 "On the real effects of private equity investment: evidence from new business creation" by A. Popov and P. Roosenboom, August 2009.
- 1079 "EMU and European government bond market integration" by P. Abad and H. Chuliá and M. Gómez-Puig, August 2009.
- 1080 "Productivity and job flows: heterogeneity of new hires and continuing jobs in the business cycle" by J. Kilponen and J. Vanhala, August 2009.
- 1081 "Liquidity premia in German government bonds" by J. W. Ejsing and J. Sihvonen, August 2009.